


One area had indeed been set aside for park purposes, but it was not
then under the control of the County. In 1892, Gen. Samuel S. Burdett,
one of the founders of the first planned subdivision in the County, Glen-
carlyn, deeded park land for the use of the residents of that community.?
This area, lying on both sides of what is now Arlington Boulevard, did
become a part of the County system during the depression of the *30’s when
Glencarlyn Park was turned over to the Commonwealth of Virginia for use
in connection with the Civilian Conservation Corps program. A CCC camp
was established there, and the Corps undertook development and mainte-
nance work on park land in the area. In 1940 Arlington asked the State
for the land, and through agreement with the Trustees of Glencarlyn, it
was deeded to the County. Its 95 acres form an important element of the
Four Mile Run, Long Branch, Lubber Run park system.

This acquisition was the fruition of an idea germinated in the early days
of County Manager government in Arlington. At a meeting of the County
Board on March 11, 1932,* it is reported that Mrs. [Florence] Cannon asked
whether legislation was needed to permit the County to accept donations of
land for park purposes, and she was assured that the Commonwealth’s
Attorney had ruled that the authority already existed. The record continues:
“Mr. [F. Freeland] Chew said he would be glad to look into the matter of
the park at Glencarlyn being turned over to the County.”

Some small parcels of land generally undevelopable, consisting of street

islands and tot lots, already had been so donated by developers. In early
1933, the County Manager was authorized to make a survey to establish
the location of these sites.” The 1933-34 County budget contained an item
of $500 (reduced from the proposed $2,500) for park maintenance-—pre-
sumably for these small areas. This was a generous allowance in view of
the financial stringency in which the County Board found itself—a situation
which required a 10% cut in salaries across the board. The 1935-36 budget
contained an appropriation of $5,000, a portion of which went for land
acquisition,
- In 1935 the County bought several small parcels of land, totaling 28
acres, along Four Mile Run north of Columbia Pike. The land intervening
between this area and Glencarlyn Park, the so-called Moran tract, came on
the market in 1939 and a proposal to buy it was presented to the County
Board. Acceptance of this plan was delayed until the concept of “wilderness
area” overcame the epithet “goatland.” The tract was finally acquired, in
sections, between 1963 and 1966, at vastly increased cost.

An important addition to the Arlington County park system was the

? Frank L. Dieter, “Early Planning Progress in Arlington County, Virginia, to 1945”;
Arlington Historical Magazine, Vol. 3, No. 3, October, 1967, p. 35.

* County Board, Minute Book, I, p. 94.
% County Board, Minute Book, I, p. 390.
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the -$150,000 bond issue was only a start on a ten-year plan of develop-
ment, but:that the general plans which had been. proposed were sound,
and that the designing of areas which already had-been done “reflected the
most progressive trends of good planning.”” He suggested that recrestion be
administered by a- Superintendent of Recreation under- the School Board
with-d budget of $23,000, and a back-up contribution of $2,000 from the
County Board.- ) B ]

At this time the Arlington County Planning Commission was developing
a Master Plan for the County. As an element of this Plan, a Report ® pro-
jecting needs to serve an estimated population of 194,000 for 1965 (the
1970 Census found 174,000 people in Arlington) dealt with a playground
plan for active recreational needs but did not cover picnic parks and
open space in general. These were shown on Plate IIT of the Master Plan.

On July 22, 1944, the County Board adopted a resolution covering park
and playground policy which, among other things, created a County Depart-
ment of Park and Playground Lands, and authorized the County Manager
to appoint a Director who could be “the same individual who is acting
under the School Board as its Director of Recreation.” ' The resolution also
created an Arlington Recreation Council to be composed of one member
from the County Board and one from the School Board, to be appointed
annually by their respective bodies, the County Manager, the Superintendent
of Schools, and the Commonwealth’s Attorney. This council was charged
with making recommendations on budgets and furthering a coordinated
policy on recreation between the County and School Boards.

During 1944, also, the County Board authorized acquisition of various
sites from the proceeds of the $150,000 bond issue. The sites were essentially
neighborhood playgrounds rather than parks, but taking them into public
hands did preserve open space. Acquisition through purchase and con-
demnation proceeded slowly, partly because the bonds actually were not
sold until March 1, 1948, and financing was through advances from the
General Fund.

Division of responsibility for the various elements of the program con-
tinued to be a cause of friction. As late as 1948, the County Board still took
the position that organized recreation was a function of the schools. When,
however, the School Board eliminated funds for this purpose from its budget,
the County Board agreed to conduct a recreational program through a

® Report from Planning Division of the Arlington County Engineering Department
by Frank L. Dieter, County Planning Engineer, April 1944,

¥ Clounty Board, Minute Book, VIII, p. 258. No appointment actually was made
for almost two years. On June 3, 1946, the County Manager appointed Wm. A. (Buck)
Richardson, then Director of Recreation for the County Public Schools to this post.
Keenly aware of the value of recreation and parks in an increasingly urban com-
munity, Mr. Richardson worked tirelessly to get more facilities for the Cou 'ty until
his death on March 22, 1961.
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not always easy. Different areas of the County put forward competing
claims for park money; and sometimes there were vehement protests from
neighbors of proposed sites who saw public parks as an intrusion into their
quiet private enclave.

Since 1951 a number of bond issues for park and recreational purposes
have been put before the voters with varying response, due in part to the
public’s evaluation of competing demands upon the County’s financial
resources.

November 2, 1954-—$600,000

For swimming pools ‘ *Failed

*Prior to 1954 a bond issue for swimming pools
passed but was thrown out by the courts.

May 13, 1958-—$293,000

For parks Passed
May 17, 1960

For Parks and Recreation—$800,000 Failed

For Arlington’s share in Northern Virginia Regional

Park Authority—$130,000 Failed

November 7, 1961

For Land Acquisition—$500,000 Failed

For Recreation—$225,000 Passed

November 5, 1963—$1,000,000
For Open Space Acquisition

November 2, 1965—$1,000,000
For acquisition of land for Thomas Jefferson Junior
High School-Community Center, and Gulf Branch
property Passed

November 8, 1968—$2,500,000
Development of recreation facilities at Thomas Jefferson
Junior High School-Community Center Passed

November 4, 1969-—$4,060,000
Arlington’s share in Northern Virginia Regional Park
Authority—$2,160,000 Passed
Swimming pools at 3 Senior High Schools—$900,000 Passed
For storm drainage and acquisition of land—$1,000,000 Passed

Passed

Some of these issues were earmarked for specific areas, but by and large,
land for parks in Arlington has been acquired in bits and picces, some of it
by dedication, most of it by purchase or condemnation, guided by the
approved Master Plan. Some of the finest pieces were acquired for stream
valley control with adjacent land purchased as it became available to con-
solidate the holdings."®

% One part of the 1944 plan for open space which did not materialize would have
created two lakes along Four Mile Run which would not only have provided recreation
but would have served as impounding basins for heavy run-off thus reducing the
flooding which in reecnt years has been so disastrous in this valley.
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Park Authority to plan for, acquire, develop, and maintain park facilities
in the area. This first effort at cooperatlve action: was not successful and the
Authority was allowed to lapse.

In 1959 Arlington County joined with Fairfax County ‘and the Clty of
Falls Church to form the Northern Virginia Regional Park Authority. Fair-
fax City became a member when it became an independent city in 1963:
Alexandria joined the Authority in 1969. Properties acquired and developed
by the NVRPA (now amounting to some 4,000 acres most ‘of which lie in
Fairfax County) are accessible” to Arlington residents. The "Authority now
is developing "55 acres on the Potomac Palisades in Arlington known' as
Potornac Overlook Park. A Nature Trail has been established in the Zachary
Taylor Nature Area adjacent to this park. '

The importance of regional cooperation to Arhngton cannot be over-
stressed. A statement from the Office of the County Manager, “Financing
Arlington’s Local Government” (September, 1970), emphasizes the official
awareness of this fact:

By recognized standards Arlington County is deficient in park, play-
ground, and playfield space in relation to both current and projected
population. ‘As the pace of urbanization continues, the acquisition of
relatively undeveloped land for public recreation takes higher priority
and the opportunities for purchase narrow.

It follows that the future history of large parks for Arlington citizens will
be made outside the County’s boundaries.



